STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Oct 26 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TAMMY CAISON MOORER,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001938

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial judge err by refusing to direct a verdict for kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap when there was no direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence to support the kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap charges and the evidence merely raised a suspicion Appellant was involved in Heather Elvis's disappearance?

2.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by admitting evidence of text messages allegedly sent and received by Appellant that were both sexually explicit and contained references to drug use since this testimony constituted inadmissible bad character evidence where Appellant had not put her character at issue, in violation of Rule 404, SCRE, and where the probative value of this evidence was also substantially outweighed by its unfair prejudice in violation of Rule 403, SCRE?

3.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by qualifying Grant Fredericks as an expert in forensic video analysis and by allowing Fredericks to testify that Appellant's truck was the vehicle seen on surveillance footage driving towards and away from the Peachtree Boat Landing where Heather Elvis was allegedly kidnapped—to the exclusion of all other vehicles—when his conclusions were not shown to be reliable?

4.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by excluding the testimony of Appellant's children, Christian Moorner and Nikki Moorner, her sister, Ashley Caison, and her mother, Polly

Caison, who would have testified Appellant was home during the timeframe of the alleged kidnapping, reasoning Appellant supposedly failed to comply with Rule 5(e)(1), SCRCrimP, by not notifying the prosecution at least ten days before trial of the names and addresses of her alibi witnesses, particularly where the state was not prejudiced since it was aware of these witnesses, had previously interviewed them, and had the witnesses under subpoena?

5.

Did the trial judge abuse his discretion by excluding the testimony of Appellant's children, Christian Moorer, Nikki Moorer, and Caison Moorer, and her mother, Polly Caison, reasoning the witnesses allegedly violated the sequestration order by viewing the live feed of the trial where the witnesses denied they watched the feed, there was no evidence their testimony was tainted, and such an extreme sanction violated Appellant's due process right to present a complete defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Horry County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Tammy Moorner on March 20, 2014 for kidnapping, and on April 25, 2018 for conspiracy to kidnap. R. 2804. On April 18, 2016, a pretrial hearing was held regarding the proposed expert testimony of Grant Fredericks before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Jr. R. 1. A second pretrial hearing on various motions was held on September 5, 2018 before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. R. 133.

Appellant Moorner's case was ultimately called to trial on October 8, 2018 before Judge Culbertson, and a jury. R. 139. Assistant Solicitors Nancy Livesay and Christopher Helms prosecuted the case. R. 139. Gregory McCollum and Casey Brown represented Appellant. R. 139.

On October 23, 2018, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R. 2342, ll. 2-14. Judge Culbertson sentenced her to thirty years' imprisonment on each offense, concurrent. R. 2352, l. 22 – 2353, l. 3.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sidney Moorer, Appellant's husband, and Heather Elvis (hereinafter "Elvis") had an affair from July 2013 until early November 2013. Elvis, who was twenty years old, was a hostess at the Tilted Kilt, a restaurant at Broadway at the Beach in Myrtle Beach. Sidney did maintenance, usually after hours, for various restaurants, including the Tilted Kilt. Elvis and Sidney met through their employment and had an intimate relationship. The affair ended on or about November 2, 2013 when Appellant discovered the relationship. Communication between Elvis and Sidney ceased within a few days of that date.

Elvis went missing during the early morning hours of December 18, 2013. She has not been seen or heard from since that date. The last person to see her alive was Stephen Schiraldi, who went on a first date with Elvis on the night of December 17, 2013. R. 247, l. 9 – 249, l. 14. Schiraldi dropped Elvis off at her apartment sometime after 1:00 am the following morning, December 18, 2013. R. 249, ll. 15-23.

At 4:00 am on December 18, 2013, Corporal Casey Guskiewicz discovered Elvis's car, a Dodge four door Intrepid, at the Peachtree Boat Landing during his routine patrol. R. 266, l. 12 – 267, l. 14; R. 272, l. 17 – 273, l. 4. Guskiewicz described the boat landing as a small parking lot that could hold approximately ten to twelve cars. R. 273, ll. 7-21. It did not have any lights. R. 274, ll. 2-4.

When Guskiewicz arrived at the landing at 4:00 am, no one was there. The Intrepid was parked near the entrance to the landing. Guskiewicz asserted, "All the windows were intact. The doors were all secured. The ignition was intact . . . There was nothing that appeared to be mechanically wrong with the car. The tires weren't flat." R. 274, l. 18 – 275, l. 1. He ran the

license tag at 4:03 am. The car had not been reported stolen. It was registered to an “Elvis subject.” R. 275, l. 12 – 276, l. 13.

Guskiewicz used his flashlight to search the landing. He checked the water for people and boats, but did not see any. He checked the swamp next to the landing and the nearby mobile home park. He also did not see anyone in or around the swamp or near the mobile home park. He did not see any keys. He did not see a phone. He did not see anything that would indicate a struggle had occurred at the landing. R. 276, l. 16 – 277, l. 17. Seeing nothing suspicious, Guskiewicz left the landing and continued his patrol. R. 281, ll. 15-20.

Sometime after sunset the next day, December 19, 2013, Lance Corporal Kenneth Canterbury responded to the Peachtree Boat Landing in regard to a suspicious vehicle. R. 332, ll. 13-25. When he arrived, he observed a Dodge Intrepid. The vehicle appeared to be operable. “It was just sitting there locked.” R. 334, ll. 1-18. Canterbury ran the tag and then contacted the registered owner, Terry Elvis, Elvis’s father. Because he did not have a telephone number for Terry, he drove to Terry’s house. Terry had a set of keys for the vehicle. Canterbury drove Terry back to the landing. Terry opened the car and the men briefly looked through the vehicle. Canterbury did not see a purse, identification, phone, or keys. R. 336, l. 9 – 338, l. 25. Terry repeatedly tried to call his daughter, the driver of the car, “with no answer.” R. 350, ll. 1-12. Terry eventually drove the car home. R. 350, ll. 6-16. Later that evening, Terry provided Canterbury with a copy of Elvis’s phone records. R. 339, l. 13 – 340, l. 7.

Corporal Danny Furr went to the Tilted Kilt that night, December 19, 2013, in an effort to locate Elvis. R. 329, l. 20 – 330, l. 1. She was not there. R. 330, ll. 2-3. Based on his visit to the Tilted Kilt, Furr called Sidney Moorer. R. 330, ll. 4-12. Sidney was also the last person Elvis spoke to according to her phone records. R. 341, ll. 1-6. After speaking with Sidney on

the phone, Furr instructed Lance Corporal Canterbury to go to the Moorers' house and speak with Sidney in person. R. 330, l. 11 – 331, l. 5; R. 341, l. 13 – 342, l. 3. Canterbury spoke to Sidney shortly after midnight on December 20, 2013 at the end of his driveway. R. 342, ll. 4-17; R. 344, l. 7 – 345, l. 5. On that date, Sidney and his wife, Appellant, became suspects in Elvis's disappearance.

The state alleged at trial that Appellant and her husband, Sidney, kidnapped Elvis from the Peachtree Boat Landing. During its investigation, law enforcement discovered that Sidney purchased a pregnancy test from Walmart around 1:15 am on December 18, 2013. R. 2090, ll. 2-18. Shortly thereafter, Elvis received a call from a payphone located at a Kangaroo Express gas station at 1:35 am. Sidney allegedly admitted he called Elvis from the payphone. The call lasted nearly five minutes. After Sidney called Elvis from the payphone, Elvis called her roommate Brianna Warrelmann at 1:44 am. The two spoke for just over two minutes. Brianna claimed Elvis sounded "upset and scared." "She was hysterical." R. 1478, ll. 14-24. Brianna allegedly told Elvis, "Do not call Sidney back. Don't do anything rash. Go to sleep and we'll talk about it tomorrow." R. 1478, l. 25 – 1479, l. 14.

After talking to Brianna, Elvis called the payphone back nine times. Elvis ultimately called Sidney's phone number at 3:16 am. This call was routed to voicemail. Elvis called Sidney's number again at 3:17 am. The two spoke for a little over four minutes. R. 381, l. 23 – 382, l. 13. During an interview with law enforcement in January 2014, Appellant admitted she heard Elvis's voice during this call. However, during her testimony before the jury, Appellant stated only that she heard a female voice, but that Sidney told her it was Elvis. R. 2115, l. 2 – 2116, l. 1. Elvis called Sidney's number four more times at 3:38 am, 3:39 am, 3:40 am, and 3:41 am. All four of these calls were routed to voicemail. R. 382, l. 14 – 383, l. 8. Location data

showed Elvis's phone was at the Peachtree Boat Landing when she made these last four calls. There was no further activity on Elvis's phone after 3:41 am.

Grant Fredericks, who was qualified as an expert in forensic video analysis over objection, testified that Appellant and Sidney Moorers's 2013 Ford Limited F-150 pickup truck was the vehicle captured on surveillance footage driving towards the Peachtree Boat Landing around 3:35 am on the morning of December 18, 2013. Fredericks claimed the Moorers' truck was then captured driving away from the landing several minutes later around 3:46 am. The margin of error was approximately two to four minutes. R. 947, l. 14 – 948, l. 8.

Fredericks also testified that he was "able to synchronize the times" using the location data from Elvis's phone and the surveillance videos of the vehicle. R. 943, ll. 17-23. He claimed the vehicle on the videos, which he identified as the Moorers' truck, was moving towards the Peachtree Boat Landing "at the same time that . . . and just after [Elvis's] cell phone is pinging those areas, including the landing area. So they [Elvis's phone and the vehicle] are converging on the same spot, towards the same area," at the same time. R. 944, l. 23 – 945, l. 9.

Lastly, for the state, it presented the testimony of Donald Demarino, Appellant's cousin.¹ R. 1583, ll. 2-13. Demarino, who had pending charges at the time of trial and an extensive criminal record, claimed that after Appellant and Sidney were released on bond in 2015, he was at a cookout at the Moorers' house. R. 1600, ll. 19-25. He alleged Sidney showed him a photograph of Heather Elvis on a "Boost Mobile flip phone." He claimed it did not appear Elvis could talk, walk, or move in the photograph. R. 1585, l. 12 – 1586, l. 1; R. 1587, ll. 21-24; R. 1610, ll. 6-22. Demarino "believed" the "picture was taken . . . for Tammy Moorers [Appellant]." R. 1587, l. 25 – 1588, l. 1. After seeing the photograph, he said he did not "expect anybody to

¹ Appellant's father and Demarino's grandmother were brother and sister. R. 1614, ll. 13-19.

hear from Heather Elvis.” R. 1588, ll. 7-9. Demarino admitted he first told the state about seeing this alleged photograph when he was incarcerated at the local detention center with pending charges. R. 1597, l. 23 – 1598, l. 16. He also admitted that he told his mother on a recorded jail call that “it’s not true.” This vague claim about an alleged photograph no one else ever saw was just Demarino talking. R. 1605, l. 5 – 1606, l. 15.

Appellant testified in her own defense. She explained that she went to work with Sidney on the night of December 17, 2013. Sidney worked into the early morning hours of December 18, 2013. R. 2085, ll. 5-25. He did maintenance work at LongHorn Steakhouse and the Sticky Fingers Restaurant. R. 2085, ll. 20-25. The couple stopped at Walmart to purchase a pregnancy test for Appellant. R. 2087, ll. 1-6. They stopped at a Bi-Lo and also went to look at some Christmas lights. R. 2087, ll. 6-8; R. 2088, ll. 6-8. Appellant was not aware Sidney made a phone call from a payphone and Sidney denied to her that he made the call. R. 2088, l. 21 – 2089, l. 9.

Appellant texted her sister, Ashley Caison, at 3:10 am that she was home. This is when Appellant and Sidney returned home that morning. Ashley, who was watching Appellant’s children, immediately sent the children home. Ashley watched the children walk from her house across the yard to the Moorers’ house, which was on the same property. R. 2077, ll. 4-22; R. 2078, l. 24 – 2079, l. 23. Sidney carried Caison, the youngest child, home because he was sleeping. R. 2081, ll. 1-19. Appellant and Sidney stayed home for the rest of the morning.

Appellant’s children were homeschooled. Appellant was awake until 4:00 am getting the children’s assignments and writing samples together to mail to their teachers. R. 2082, l. 18 – 2083, l. 10. Appellant stayed home until her mother called around noon because she had a flat tire and needed help. R. 2092, ll. 8-12; R. 2094, l. 1 – 2095, l. 25. Sidney and the children were

also home all night. R. 2094, ll. 11-20. Sidney never left the house except for when he went outside to feed the dogs. R. 2082, ll. 8-17.

Appellant denied going to the Peachtree Boat Landing on December 17, 2013 or December 18, 2013. R. 2050, ll. 14-24. To her knowledge, no one drove her Ford Limited F-150 pickup truck to the landing during the early morning hours of December 18, 2013. R. 2051, ll. 4-7. She denied kidnapping Elvis or knowing who kidnapped her. R. 2123, ll. 9-14.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial judge erred by refusing to direct a verdict for kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap when there was no direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence to support the kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap charges and the evidence merely raised a suspicion Appellant was involved in Heather Elvis's disappearance.

Relevant Facts

After the state rested, Appellant moved for a directed verdict. Defense counsel argued the state failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence to support either offense. R. 1668, ll. 19-24. Counsel argued there was no evidence the Moorers' truck ever went to the Peachtree Boat Landing. R. 1672, ll. 3-6. In fact, the evidence established that Appellant and Sidney's cell phones were located at their home that morning. R. 1686, ll. 22-24. Counsel emphasized that there was absolutely no evidence Heather Elvis had ever been inside the Moorers' truck. R. 1672, ll. 23-25; R. 1673, ll. 3-5. An officer who searched the truck testified that the truck "smelled new." There was no evidence the truck had been cleaned. R. 1672, l. 25 – 1673, l. 3. Moreover, there was no evidence Appellant ever had physical contact with Elvis. R. 1673, ll. 5-7.

Defense counsel further argued there was no evidence of a struggle. R. 1673, ll. 10-12. Assuming Elvis got into the truck voluntarily, counsel argued there was no evidence of if or when her freedom was restricted in order to constitute a kidnapping. Counsel stressed that the state had to prove the kidnapping occurred in Horry County. R. 1673, l. 10 – 1674, l. 10. Specifically, he asserted, "Case law says that her freedom has to be restricted and stopped, but if she voluntarily gets in the car, then when does it occur? State versus Williams says they have to

prove that it happened in this county. We have North Carolina, Marion County, Florence County. If she freely got in the car and then leaves, they haven't proven or shown any evidence that it happened here." R. 1673, l. 25 – 1674, l. 10.

Lastly, as to kidnapping, counsel argued, "Near proximity to someone else who may have committed a crime doesn't get you there. It is not enough per case law. So even if she [Appellant] was riding around in the truck with her husband because she's expecting infidelity . . . that doesn't reflect on Tammy [Appellant], and that is who is on trial today." R. 1686, ll. 8-14.

As to conspiracy to kidnap, defense counsel argued there was no evidence presented "at all of an agreement, an understanding, a conspiracy, a confederation . . . a plan, a scheme to kidnap this woman." R. 1674, ll. 15-24.

Counsel concluded, "Your Honor, the case law . . . is clear. There has to be . . . substantial circumstantial evidence for the jury to consider, and in this case the State has failed. They have not presented evidence that meets the elements in either charge to where a reasonable trier of fact could find these essential elements beyond a reasonable doubt." R. 1674, l. 25 – 1675, l. 6. If the case goes to the jury, the jurors will be "forced to assume and guess." R. 1675, ll. 7-9.

In response, the assistant solicitor said that the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the state, which no one disputed. R. 1675, ll. 18-22. While she admitted "this is a circumstantial case," she claimed the state had presented substantial circumstantial evidence to survive a directed verdict motion. R. 1675, ll. 22-24. The solicitor then outlined the evidence she contended got the state past the directed verdict motion: (1) Appellant admitted she was in the truck with Sidney Moorer all night; (2) Sidney called Heather Elvis from a payphone; (3) Elvis repeatedly called the payphone number back; (4) when Elvis did not reach anyone on the

payphone, she called Sidney; (5) Appellant admitted she heard Elvis's voice on the phone when Elvis called Sidney; (6) after talking to Sidney on the phone, Elvis left her apartment and drove towards the Peachtree Boat Landing; (7) as Elvis was driving to the landing, the Moorers' truck was driving towards the landing at the same time; (8) no one ever saw or heard from Elvis again; (9) Sidney showed Donald Demarino "a picture" of Elvis, in which it appeared Elvis could not walk or talk; (10) Demarino said the picture was for Appellant and that, based on the picture, he did not expect anyone to hear from Elvis again. R. 1676, l. 20 – 1684, l. 21.

The trial judge ultimately denied the motion for a directed verdict. R. 1687, ll. 9-11. He merely stated, "I think there is enough evidence to get past a directed verdict; that motion is denied." R. 1687, ll. 10-11.

After the defense rested, Appellant properly renewed her motion for a directed verdict. R. 2227, ll. 19-23. The trial judge again denied the motion. R. 2227, l. 24 – 2228, l. 2.

Standard of Review

"The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged." State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 344 S.C. 85, 97, 544 S.E.2d 30, 36 (2001)). "However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury." Id. (citing State v. Pinckney, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)) (emphasis in original). "On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, this Court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State." Id. (citing State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 583, 541 S.E.2d 254, 256 (2001)).

“A [trial] judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” Id. (citing State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 132, 322 S.E.2d 450, 451-452 (1984)). “Suspicion implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof.” State v. Buckmon, 347 S.C. 316, 322, 555 S.E.2d 402, 404-405 (2001) (citing Lollis, 343 S.C. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 256). “When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial [judge] is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.” State v. Shands, 424 S.C. 106, 135, 817 S.E.2d 524, 539 (Ct. App. 2018) (citing State v. Hernandez, 382 S.C. 620, 624, 677 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2009)).

Discussion

The trial judge erred by denying Appellant’s motion for a directed verdict for kidnapping and conspiracy to kidnap when the state failed to present any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt. At most, the state presented evidence that merely raised a suspicion Appellant was involved in Elvis’s disappearance. The state conceded at trial that there was no direct evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Consequently, the question is whether the state presented *substantial* circumstantial evidence to support the offenses.

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