STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Dec 15 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TAMMY CAISON MOORER,

Appellant.

Case No. 2018-001938

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, SC 29528

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Responding to the Moorers' argument that Fredericks should not be allowed to say each vehicle has a unique headlight spread pattern, Judge Dennis noted: "He's saying in his experience, and . . . that to me is the distinction here. He's testifying from his personal experience in analyzing, he's never encountered that." R. p. 129, lines 15-24. Judge Dennis ruled:

At the time of trial, we will have heard his testimony in full and then from the standpoint, if the solicitor asks that question, we can excuse the jury and we can go into it and have further hearing concerning Mr. Fredericks' testimony in that vein. But from the standpoint of his testifying to the methodology, it's clearly – and I find nothing either from anybody's testimony, nothing that I've done on my independent research that says this is not a recognized standard for identification and he's gone through it methodically.

R. p. 130, lines 5-14. Judge Dennis noted there were aspects of the testimony presenting issues of fact for a jury, but from of the standpoint of being qualified to testify, Judge Dennis found Fredericks was qualified. R. p. 130, lines 14-24. Judge Dennis further cautioned while he was inclined to allow the full extent of Fredericks' opinion, the scope of the opinion still needed to be addressed at the time of trial. R. p. 130, line 24 – p. 131, line 7. So certainly Judge Dennis' ruling was not final, even for Sidney Moorers' trial.

The issue is not preserved

At Appellant's trial, Fredericks testified about his qualifications and explained his field of expertise during the State's voir dire before the jury. When the State moved to qualify Fredericks as an expert witness, defense counsel agreed "he has the qualifications to examine the video" and

agreed Fredericks was qualified to testify to the make and model of the vehicle, but defense counsel explained to the trial court, “What we object to is him being qualified as an expert to say that he can look at a video – he can look at a video or two videos very brief in time and then come back and say that is a specific truck and it doesn’t match any other F-150 in the world. . . . It’s like a DNA print or something like that.” R. p. 890, lines 2-22.

The trial court ruled Fredericks was an expert in the field of video forensic analysis. The trial court further advised defense counsel:

Now, when he goes to render an opinion, if you think it exceeds his scope of expertise, raise you objection then and I’ll make a decision as to whether or not it exceeds -- I don’t know what his testimony will be. So I’m not going to limit his testimony at this point in time. It is just like any other witness, if he starts to exceed the scope of this expertise, raise your objection and I’ll make a decision at that time.

R. p. 890, line 24 – p. 891, line 8. **Defense counsel agreed with the procedure:** “[A]nd when we think he is getting beyond it, we’ll submit the objection.” R. p. 891, lines 9-14.

Although Appellant now argues on appeal that Fredericks went beyond the scope of his expertise, defense counsel never interposed the prospective objection to Fredericks’ testimony, indicating his fears that Fredericks would go too far in his opinion never occurred. “In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court]. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.” State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). In the instant case, the trial court made clear it was not ready to rule on the objection and advised defense counsel to interpose an objection at the appropriate time. Defense counsel never interposed a further objection, so the issue now raised on appeal was not ruled upon by the trial court.

Rule 702/standard of review

Under Rule 702, SCRE:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

Before admitting expert testimony, the trial judge must find: (1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact; (2) the expert has the required knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education to render an opinion; and (3) the testimony is reliable. State v. Martin, 391 S.C. 508, 514, 706 S.E.2d 40, 42 (Ct. App. 2011).

“Expert testimony may be used to help the jury to determine a fact in issue based on the expert's specialized knowledge, experience, or skill and is necessary in cases in which the subject matter falls outside the realm of ordinary lay knowledge.” Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 445, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010). “A trial court's decision to admit or exclude expert testimony will not be reversed absent a prejudicial abuse of discretion.” State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 269, 676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009). An expert witness may state an opinion based on facts not within his first-hand knowledge, and may base his opinion on information, whether or not admissible, made available to him before the hearing if the information is of the type reasonably relied upon in the field. Rule 703, SCRE; Dawkins v. Fields, 354 S.C. 58, 64, 580 S.E.2d 433, 436 (2003).

Massachusetts observed an FBI affidavit was submitted in that case advising photogrammetry has been in existence for over a century as a process for determining distances and heights from known points of reference. Commonwealth v. Caruso, 4 N.E.3d 1283, 1289

(Mass. Ct. App. 2014). In United States v. Quinn, 18 F.3d 1461, 1464-65 (9th Cir. 1994), the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals found the district court did not err in allowing an expert in photogrammetry to testify to the approximate height of the bank robber shown on surveillance video without holding a Daubert hearing. The Court of Appeals found no error and observed the district court “concluded that the process used by [the expert] was nothing more than a series of computer assisted calculations that did not involve any novel or questionable scientific techniques.” Id. at 1465.

In United States v. Wells, 879 F.3d 900, 933 (9th Cir. 2018), an expert in Honda vehicles was allowed to testify he was 70 percent certain a vehicle depicted in a blurry video was a Honda CR-V after his initial analysis determined a CR-V was one of three possible models depicted in the video and photogrammetric analysis eliminated the other two Honda models.

The Texas Court of Appeals found no error in allowing Fredericks to testify as an expert in video analysis. Stevenson v. State, 304 S.W.3d 603 (Tx. Ct. App. 2010). The appellate court noted that even though the jury could see for themselves the sequence of events on videotape, Fredericks helped clarify what they were seeing on a poor quality black and white video, especially in regards to a comparison of the individuals’ height. Id. at 623.

In an unpublished opinion by the North Dakota District Court, United States v. Rodriguez, 2006 WL 8438025, the district court addressed a challenge to the video analyst’s methods of reverse projection measurement. The expert staged three poles of varying height, videotaped the placement of the poles, and overlay an image of the perpetrator shown in the original video overtop the videos with the three poles to determine the perpetrator was approximately 5’6” tall. The district court found the expert testimony admissible, noting, “Even to the lay person, this

methodology is logical.” Id. at 2.

In the present case, Fredericks’ methodology is logical, even to a lay person, and is capable of close review and scrutiny by other experts, the jury, and even for this Court, as the process has been painstakingly preserved in State’s Exhibit No. 41.

Challenge to uniqueness of headlight spread patterns

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing Fredericks to testify that vehicles produce unique headlight spread patterns that make them uniquely identifiable, and opining that the Moorers’ F-150 was the vehicle in the surveillance videos to the exclusion of all other vehicles.

During voir dire at trial, Appellant’s defense counsel questioned whether vehicles are uniquely identifiable from their headlight spread and Fredericks explained, “Yes. Headlight spread analysis is a very specific unique characteristic of a vehicle. There has been lots of publications and testing, and that is one of the very, very unique features of a vehicle.” R. p. 883, lines 5-9.

Fredericks further expounded:

Well, the reasons that headlights are different provides an opportunity for comparisons. So the National Highway Transportation Board looks at a number of different features that cause headlights from a vehicle [of] the same make, model, and year to be different. Dirt and debris on the headlight, a breach of the lens compartment that causes condensation will refract the lights differently. Bulbs begin to wear out, and depending on the number of bulbs in the light, it will have an impact on the diffusion of the light across the roadway. If a bulb comes out just even a fraction of a distance, it will refract within the lens compartment and then project a light differently on the roadway. They do this study because they are trying to minimize glare [for] on-coming traffic. . .

..

R. p. 883, line 14 – p. 937, line 3.

Fredericks explained further:

[T]he older a vehicle is, the more likely the headlights will be adjusted and be off because they may hit a pot hole, they may hit a speed bump, and that will cause some changes in the headlight. **So it's very rare to find headlights from the same make, model and year that will overlay each other.**

R. p. 884, line 21 – p. 885, line 2. Fredericks discussed a test performed on a few dozen Crown Victoria vehicles purchased at the same time by a police agency that showed even though the vehicles were all brand new and were identical models, none of them had the same headlight spread pattern. R. p. 885, lines 2-9. Fredericks referred to this study again during cross-examination, “[W]e did an examination of a number of vehicles right off the assembly line, [and] all their headlights were different.” R. p. 970, lines 2-4.

Fredericks later explained he did not base his opinion solely on headlight spread analysis, but explained, “The headlight spread pattern is most easily and uniquely identifiable and can be demonstrated I think more visually than other features, so that is what I focused on” R. p. 949, line 7 – p. 950, line 6. During cross-examination, defense counsel asked Fredericks whether headlight spread pattern analysis is a science by itself. Fredericks answered, “Headlight spread analysis is defined by the International Association for Identification. It is a scientific examination process within photographic video comparison.” R. p. 953, lines 4-9; see R. p. 963, line 23 – p. 964, line 9 (“[I]n the International Association for Identification it is trained, taught, and used, and so it is part of forensic video analysis.”); see R. pp. 56-57 (noting terms used in the headlight analysis are defined by the IAI).

Another of defense counsel’s cross-examination questions allowed Fredericks to explain the distinguishability of headlight spreads between vehicles:

You are making my point. These vehicles, for various reasons, headlights are different. They can be adjusted and moved. My observation was that once the vehicle was seized and in control of the police and then driveby was done, there was no distinguishable difference.¹

Once the police did their examination of the vehicle, removed the headlights, I could no longer do that examination. That is why we did all the other ones, and I relied on the police movement. So your point is my point, that there are many, many variables that go into making headlights distinguishable, and over time they change more and more.

So it was fortunate that within a short period of time the police had access to the vehicle and they did their tests, because that is what I relied on.

R. p. 957, lines 7-22.

In the instant case, the trial court did not err in allowing Fredericks to opine the Moorers' vehicle matched the vehicle in the videos as he demonstrated during voir dire that his methodology was sound. Additionally, his report was peer-reviewed with particularized approbation from the peer about the headlight spread analysis.

Importantly, the similarities and differences in the headlight spread between the tested vehicles and the questioned vehicle was on full display within Fredericks report, State's Exhibit 41. The testimony, method, and results, were readily understandable for the jury so it could give Fredericks' testimony whatever weight they felt appropriate. See generally State v. Morgan, 326 S.C. 503, 485 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 1997) (noting standard for admissibility of scientific expert evidence is designed to prevent jurors from being misled by an aura of infallibility surrounding unproven scientific methods) *overruled on other grounds by State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 270,

¹ After law enforcement conducted the drive-by test in January 2014, they later removed and reinstalled the headlights during a search. R. p. 958, lines 2-8.

676 S.E.2d 684, 686 (2009); see generally State v. Jones, 273 S.C. 723, 259 S.E.2d 120 (1979) (admissibility of scientific evidence depends on whether the experts relied on scientifically and professionally established techniques); State v. Whaley, 305 S.C. 138, 406 S.E.2d 369 (1991) (not all expert testimony is subject to a Jones challenge). The question of whether the questioned vehicle was a one-of-a-kind of match with the Moorers' vehicle was a quintessential example of a question for the jury. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the testimony even if counsel had objected to the testimony.

Demonstrating the soundness of the testimony is a comparison to the facts found in Watson v. Ford Motor Co., 389 S.C. 434, 699 S.E.2d 169 (2010). In that case, the Supreme Court found a witness qualified as an expert failed to meet the reliability requirements of Rule 702 to testify as to causation by a cruise control design and also offer an alternative design for the cruise control system. The Supreme Court observed it was questionable whether the witness was qualified and further: (1) he never tested his theory, (2) it was never peer reviewed, (3) he never published his theory, and (4) while noting general acceptance of a scientific principle in the community was not required for admissibility, the Supreme Court noted that the expert's theory was rejected in the community. Id. at 451-52, 699 S.E.2d at 178.

In contrast, in the present case, even the defendants' expert agreed Fredericks was highly qualified and his methodology was sound, the work in this case was peer reviewed, and Fredericks had tested his theory on the uniqueness of headlights spreads through experience but also specifically in analyzing dozens of identical make vehicles fresh off the assembly line. Additionally, Fredericks referenced publications supporting his theories on the uniqueness of headlight spreads. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in allowing Fredericks to testify to his

opinion that the Moorers' vehicle was the vehicle in the surveillance videos.

Further, any error was harmless. If restricting the opinion as suggested by Sidney Moorers' attorney at the pretrial hearing, the opinion evidence still established a 2013 F-150 of the same make and specifications as the Moorers' truck, including HID headlights and a toolbox, travelled towards the landing in time to meet and abduct Victim. In tandem with phone records, tower tracking records, the Moorers' admissions, and the records of the Moorers' movements, this provides ample evidence of their guilt. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990) (Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial).

IV & V: The trial court did not err in disqualifying alleged alibi witnesses from testifying because the witnesses violated the trial court's sequestration order. Further, the trial court did not err in finding Appellant violated the notice requirement for Rule 5, SCRCrimP because Appellant did not timely provide notice within the rule's requirements (Appellant's issues IV & V).

Appellant complains the trial court erred in excluding Appellant's alleged alibi witnesses. This issue is mooted by those witnesses' willful violation of the sequestration order. However, defense counsel admitted failing to follow the Rule 5, SCRCrimP procedure, so the trial court did not err. Appellant also complains the trial court erred in disallowing the same witnesses from testifying based on a violation of the sequestration order. However, the violation was willful and the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

How the issue concerning the alibi notice arose

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